1999

Utah v. Stringham : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-2a-3(1)(e).

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Was the plea agreement entered into between the Plaintiff/Appellee State of Utah (the “State”) and Defendants an enforceable agreement?
2. Should the Trial Court have granted the motion to dismiss for lack of evidence against Gale Stringham at the close of the State’s case, and if not, does the evidence as a whole support her convictions?
3. Did the Trial Court err in denying the use of the good faith belief defense and refusing to give the defendants proposed instruction on this defense?

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The determinative law in this case includes *Utah Code Ann.* §§ 76-10-1601 and 76-10-1801, which are the statutes under which these charges are filed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendants Bob and Gale Stringham were charged with Communications Fraud founded on insurance billings during 1993 for patients of an organization known as Utah Treatment and Addiction Health Services. Founded on the Communications Fraud, Bob Stringham was charged with thirteen counts, Gale Stringham was charged with six counts. They were both additionally charged with one violation of a pattern of unlawful activity based on the communications counts. *Utah Code Ann.* § 76-10-1601.

The matter was tried over the period beginning February 23, 1999, through March 4, 1999. The Trial Court denied a motion to dismiss as to Gale Stringham at the close of the State's case. The defendants were convicted of all charges and filed a timely appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In approximately June of 1992, Defendant Bob Stringham and Carolyn Edwards met and decided to organize the Utah Treatment and Addiction Health Services (UTAHS). This organization was to provide treatment in the fields of drug abuse and domestic violence counseling. (Tr 130-131) The company opened offices in Bountiful, Salt Lake, Sandy and Orem. The principles of the company were Carolyn Edwards, Bob Stringham, and their spouses. Carolyn Edwards supervised the conduct of operations at the Bountiful, Salt Lake and Sandy locations. *Id.* Bob Stringham was in charge of the billing. (Tr. 134) Gayle Stringham, the wife of Bob Stringham and a Ph.D. in Psychology, provided services at the Orem business location.

At the time that this counseling was first offered by UTAHS there were no rules for the conduct of domestic violence counseling. (Tr. 134, 171-2) By 1993, the State of Utah developed regulations for qualification to provide domestic violence counseling. (Tr 142) Under the new standards, only those individuals with certain academic qualifications could provide this counseling. (Tr. 176) These rules were published by the end of 1993.

The regulations governing mental health professionals allows for the conduct of certain types of counseling by individuals who are working toward a license, if the activities of these individuals are performed under the supervision of a fully licensed person.

After her graduation and prior to receiving her Ph.D. in 1993 Gale Stringham worked under the supervision of Geri Alldredge, a licensed Ph.D.

Carolyn Edwards, who was only licensed to provide alcohol and drug counseling, provided other types of counseling at the Salt Lake office of UTAHS. She believed that she was conducting her therapy under the supervision of Dr. Charles Walton. (Tr 233) Walton, however, testified that he did not believe that he was supervising Edwards to the extent that she did. (Tr. 913)

Some of the services provided by UTAHS was billed to insurance companies. These billings traditionally utilized a standard form known as a Health Insurance Claim Form (HICFA). At its inception UTAHS had hired another company to process and file insurance claims, but learned in 1993 that the forms were not being submitted. The four principals of the company met at the Stringhams' residence, and the Edwards and the Stringhams filled

out HICFA's for services rendered to patients prior to that date. (Tr 166, 189-190) One of the blocks on the insurance form calls for the identification of the "Physician or Supplier". (Tr 197) Ms. Edwards believed that this block was not one of the ones completed by the four individuals on this occasion. (Tr. 168) Carolyn Edwards testified that at that time she believed that the billing forms that were filled out and submitted were correct and properly billed for services provided by the company. (Tr. 196, 198)

After the catching up the bills, the billing function for the company was conducted out of the Orem location under the control of Bob Stringham. (Tr. 191) The bills would be processed by an employee from the Orem office based on records provided from each of the offices. All of the services provided out of the Salt Lake Office were submitted with the stamp signature of Dr. Charles Walton, a medical doctor, in the block provided for "Physician or Supplier". (Tr. 241-242) This was done even though Dr. Walton performed very few of these services himself. The individual who prepared these forms testified when asked who told her to utilize this procedure: "I believe it was Bob and Gale." (Tr. 242) Later when asked about a specific insurance company and who told her how to bill: "It was either Bob or Gale." (Tr. 243)

The insurance companies that rely upon these forms expect that the "Physician or Supplier" block will be either the person who actually performed the services or, in the alternative, the person supervising the actual person performing the services. Some of the

services billed under the stamp of Dr. Walton would not have been compensable if billed under the name of the person who provided the actual services.

Prior to the trial, counsel for the defendants (Mr. Mooney) and the prosecutor (Mr. Gunnarson) met to discuss a possible plea agreement. At the end of that meeting, the two lawyers structured an agreement that would involve pleas from Mr. Stringham, and a dismissal of Mrs. Stringham. Neither of the defendants was present at this meeting, and it was understood that counsel for the defense would have to discuss the proposal with the defendants. Mr. Gunnarson, the prosecutor, wrote an outline of the proposed offer on his pad and asked defense counsel to sign next to it. The agreement was silent on the subject of restitution. Thereafter, counsel for defendant left a message on the answering machine at the number that had been provided by Mr. Gunnarson. Defendants maintain that they accepted the offer. Although there is a factual dispute relating to the exact wording of the message, the trial Court never reached this issue. Defendants brought a motion to enforce the plea agreement. Prior to the commencement of trial, the Court ruled: 1) that a defendant had no right to enforce a plea agreement under Utah law; and 2) the agreement would be unenforceable because it did not address the issue of restitution. (Tr. 3-11)

At the close of the governments case, the defense moved for a dismissal as to Mrs. Stringham. (The motion was heard on the 1st of March, 1999, but is not reflected in the record.) The court denied the motion. (Tr. 1439).

The defense requested that the jury be charged that a good faith belief negates the necessary intent for a fraudulent statement. Proposed instructions were discussed at length in chambers. Defense presented an instruction based on good faith belief which the court refused to give. Defendants objected to the Courts failure to instruct. (Tr.1175) The jury convicted, and the defendants filed a timely appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Prior to the trial, a plea agreement was offered by the State prosecutor, this offer was accepted by communications to an answering machine at a number provided by the prosecutor, and when the offer was later withdrawn, the Trial Court erred in not enforcing the agreement.

At the close of the evidence, Defendant Gale Stringham moved to dismiss for insufficient evidence. The Trial Court, however, improperly denied this motion, finding that an oblique reference to her in connection with the billing procedure that served as the basis for the charges was sufficient to send the case to the jury.

Finally, defendants claimed that they acted in good faith and had a good faith belief that the procedures they were following were proper. The defense offered an instruction on its defense. The Court ruled that good faith was not a defense under the mental state standard of the Communication Fraud statute and denied the instruction.

ARGUMENT

I

THE COURT ERRED BY NOT ENFORCING THE PLEA AGREEMENT

The standard to be applied to the enforcement of plea agreements is a matter of law. Legal issues are reviewed *de novo* for correctness. *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994).

Counsel for the defendants and the prosecutor sat down in a good faith attempt to settle this matter on the eve of trial. At the end of that session, the attorneys arrived at what they felt would be a fair disposition of the matter. While the prosecutor has the authority of his client, the State, to settle criminal cases, it is necessary for a defendant to give approval to any such arrangement. Because the defendants were not present at the meeting between the lawyers, it was necessary for defense counsel to contact the his clients and obtain their consent to the agreement.

In order to insure that there would be no ambiguity in the agreement, the prosecutor wrote out the terms on his pad and asked defense counsel to sign next to it, which was done.¹ This document reflected that Mrs. Stringham would be dismissed and that Mr. Stringham would plead guilty to three third degree felonies. The agreement did not address the subject of restitution.

¹ The page from the prosecutors note pad was ordered to be included in the record. (Tr. 11) It would appear that it was never turned over to the Court by the prosecution as a review of the record failed to locate it. A motion to supplement the record will be filed as soon as a copy of the document is obtained from the prosecution.

Mr. Gunnarson provided a telephone number to defense counsel and the attorneys parted. Later after defense counsel had made contact with his clients and obtained their approval, he called the number provided by the prosecutor. Mr. Gunnarson was not there, so defense counsel left a message. The exact wording of the message is in some dispute, but the Court never got to this issue.

The Court first held that the State could not be bound to such an agreement and further, that there was no meeting of the minds in any event because the agreement did not address the subject of restitution.

A. Plea Agreements Are Enforceable Contracts with Constitutional Overtones in the State of Utah.

The foundation case dealing with the rights bestowed to a defendant in a plea agreement is *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 30 L.Ed.2d 427, 92 S.Ct. 495 (1971). In this oft quoted case, the United States Supreme Court decided that a plea agreement is a contract between the prosecution and the defendant that is enforceable as are other contracts dealing with more mundane aspects of peoples lives.

Santobello involved enforcement of the terms of a completed plea agreement. The defendant in that case entered his plea as a part of the agreement, but felt that the government had breached the agreement by not following through with its obligations under the agreement. From the doctrine of *Santobello* comes the concept of the reasonable expectation of the defendant in a plea agreement. *State v. Bero*, 645 P. 2d 44 (Utah 1982).

Many of the cases differ somewhat from the issue before this Court because in those factual circumstances the agreement had been entered and partially performed, usually by the entry of the plea by the defendant. In the instant case we deal with the subject of enforcement of an agreement that has not been performed by either party and is repudiated very shortly after it is made.

A similar situation to the case at bar existed in *United States v. Cooper*, 594 F.2d 12 (4th Cir. 1979). *Cooper* is further distinguished in that prior to the ability of the defense lawyer to communicate the acceptance to the prosecutor, the prosecutor advised the defense lawyer that the offer was withdrawn. Thus under *Cooper* no contract under strict contract law would have come into being because the acceptance had not been communicated. (Communications of acceptance is the disputed part of the evidence in this case that the judge never reached.) In enforcing the plea agreement, the *Cooper* Court found that there was a fundamental right of fairness guaranteed by the Constitution that was impacted by the case, “that under appropriate circumstances which we find here a constitutional right to enforcement of plea proposals may arise before any technical “contract” has been formed, and on the basis alone of expectations reasonably formed in reliance upon the honor of the government in making and abiding by its proposals.” *Id.* at 16.

One of the reasons for the forgoing is the necessity for confidence in the process of justice itself:

To the extent that the government attempts through defendant's counsel to change or retract positions earlier communicated, a defendant's confidence in his counsel's capability and professional responsibility, as well as in the government's reliability, are necessarily jeopardized and the effectiveness of counsel's assistance easily compromised. At the very least, these Sixth Amendment considerations add a heightened degree of obligation to the government's fundamental duty to negotiate with scrupulous fairness in seeking guilty pleas.

U.S. v. Cooper, supra at 18.

In the case of *State v. Patience*, 944 P.2d 381 (Utah Ct. App 1997), a plea bargain was entered into allowing the defendant to plead guilty to three counts of attempted forgery, a third degree felony. Unbeknownst to either of the parties, Forgery was reduced from a second degree felony to a third degree felony, which would have made attempted forgery class A misdemeanors. At sentencing, the defendant was sentenced on the basis of three third degree felonies. On appeal, defendant alleged that the Court erred by sentencing her for the felonies when the level of the crime had been reduced by the legislative change.

In opposition to the defendants position, the State argued that the plea agreement constituted a mutual mistake by the parties as neither were aware of the change in the law, nor was the judge at the time of the sentencing. Thus, in *Patience* it was the government that attempted to argue strict principles of contract to the agreement. Unlike many of the cases dealing with plea agreements, *Patience* did not desire to withdraw the plea, but rather to have it strictly enforced under the amended statute. The Court of Appeals recognized that

principles of contract only go so far in cases involving pleas and that there are constitutional implications of such a situation:

In applying contract law principles to plea agreements, "courts must keep in mind that the defendant's 'underlying "contract" right is constitutionally based and therefore reflects concerns that differ fundamentally from and run wider than those of commercial contract law.' As a result, the application of contract law principles to plea agreements may require tempering in some instances." People v. Evans, 174 Ill. 2d 320, 673 N.E.2d 244, 247, 220 Ill. Dec. 332 (Ill. 1996)

Id. at 396.

The trial court was required to resentence the defendant with the benefit of the amended statute.

If a defendant is to be allowed the full benefit of the contract even when there are mistakes made in the defendant's favor that neither the prosecution or the defense realized, an agreement struck and accepted should be enforceable. Given the important rights that overlay and attach to the plea bargain process, defendants should be allowed under Utah law to enforce plea agreements, including specific enforcement of agreements struck, but not yet implemented.

B. Failure to Address the Issue of Restitution Was Not Fatal to the Plea Agreement.

It is axiomatic that any plea agreement entered into between the State and a defendant will not necessarily resolve all issues and always will be subject to the exercise of sentencing discretion by the judge following the entry of the plea. The key element of the plea

agreement that is in the control of the parties is which counts, or amended counts, will be plead to and which will be dismissed. Following the plea, it becomes the province of the judge to affix the sentence.

Issues related to sentencing may or may not be an element of plea negotiations. Thus a plea agreement may involve a requirement that the court accept matters of disposition before it accepts the plea. Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure 11h. But even in these circumstances the judge has not been made a party to the plea negotiations. The structure of such an agreement is that the defendant is not bound to the plea if those matters outside the control of the prosecution are not accepted by the court.

In many circumstances the government may make a recommendation or stand silent at sentencing. These are matters under the control of the prosecution and things that can be negotiated, but they are not binding on the court, and a defendant that does not receive these benefits may not later complain of the court's action. *United States v. Benchimol*, 471 U.S. 453, 85 L.Ed.2d 462 (1985).

Restitution is not a part of a guilty plea; rather it is a consequence that flows from the conduct of the defendant and the finding of guilt that is entered by the court on the plea of the defendant. U.C.A. 76-3-201. In the instant matter, the issue of restitution was not addressed by the parties in their plea agreement. The agreement instead dealt only with the number of counts to which the defendant Bob Stringham would plead guilty. Yet the Court found that the lack of this component made the agreement unenforceable.

Defendants frequently enter pleas without the subject of restitution being addressed. It is like many of the other consequences of the plea, something that is left to the court in the majority of sentences as a part of its discretion. *See State v. Thurston*, 781 P.2d 1296 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). As discussed above, plea agreements are similar to contract, but are only similar. One of the striking differences is that not all aspects of what may occur thereafter need be a part of the agreement.

In *State v. Watson*, 987 P.2d 1289 (Utah Ct. App. 1999), a defendant originally charged with murder and obstruction plead under a plea agreement to the charge of obstruction of justice. At sentencing the court imposed restitution for costs associated with the murder charge. It is clear that the subject of restitution had not been a component of the plea agreement of these parties, but the court did not find this to be an incomplete contract as would be the case under the rational proposed by the trial court herein. Whether restitution could be ordered instead turned on the admissions that the defendant had made in allocution.

In *State v. Twitchell*, 832 P.2d 866 (Utah Ct. App. 1992), this Court conducted a lengthy discussion of the inter-relationship of restitution to a finding of guilt. In so doing, the Court underscores the discretionary function of the trial court in the issuance of an order of restitution. Like many other areas that may be addressed in a plea agreement, an agreement as to restitution is not mandatory to such an agreement, is normally a function of

the sentencing judge, and a plea bargain agreement is not incomplete because it fails to address this component.

II

GOOD FAITH IS A DEFENSE TO COMMUNICATIONS FRAUD, AND A DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO AN INSTRUCTION ON GOOD FAITH BELIEF WHEN FACTUALLY JUSTIFIED.

Jury instructions are reviewed under a correctness standard granting no particular deference to the trial court. *State v. Stringham*, 957 P.2d 602 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

Defendants maintained that they believed they were billing in a correct fashion. Gale Stringham testified that the procedure utilized by UTAHS of having a single stamp for an individual from each location regardless of who had actually provided the services was the procedure that she had learned over the years. She did not become aware that this was an improper method of billing until some time after the bills in the instant matter when she read an article in a professional magazine that indicated the procedure was improper and could in fact be fraudulent. (Tr 1286-87)

In line with this defense, the defendants presented a proposed instruction as follows:

“You are instructed that a representation that is made by an individual who has a good faith belief in the correctness or truth of the representation is not a fraudulent representation.”

Record 166.

The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has ruled that a defendant is entitled to a good faith instruction when he has interposed the defense of good faith, has requested the instruction, and when there is sufficient evidence to support it. *United States v. Hopkins*, 744 F.2d 716, 717 (10th Cir. 1984) (*en banc*). Good faith belief is a defense that centers on the intent component of a fraud allegation. Because it is a defense, it is entitled to its own instruction. The basis for the grant of such an instruction is that the general instructions on willfulness and intent are not deemed sufficient to clearly convey to a jury the defendant's good faith defense. *United States v. Haddock*, 956 F.2d 1534 (10th CA 1992); *United States v. Harting*, 879 F.2d 765 (10th Cir 1989). It is not necessary that the good faith belief be rational; so long as it is held in good faith, it is a proper defense that may be raised if there is sufficient evidence, and as such is proper for an instruction on the defendants theory of the case. *United States v. Mann*, 884 F.2d 532 (10th Cir. 1989).²

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