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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Alleged Plea Agreement. Defendant has failed to demonstrate clear error in the trial court's finding that no plea agreement was reached. The prosecutor's offer was tentative and did not include all the necessary details of a plea agreement, such as the payment of restitution. Moreover, a binding plea agreement was not entered because it was never presented to the trial court for approval. Defendants' convictions were not the result of the

wrongful inducement of a plea offer by the prosecution, but they were result of a duly rendered jury verdict. Accordingly, defendants suffered no prejudice from the prosecutor's withdrawal of the tentative offer and they have no constitutional right to specific performance of any alleged agreement.

Proposed Good Faith Instruction. The trial court adequately instructed the jury regarding the requisite mental state required to find defendants guilty of communications fraud. The court instructed the jury that a guilty verdict could only be rendered if the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the representations or material omissions were made or omitted by defendants intentionally, knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the truth. The trial court then gave the jury detailed instructions regarding each mental state under which defendants could be convicted. These instructions, taken as a whole, provided defendants with the necessary framework to assert their good faith defense. Such a holding is consistent with the overwhelming majority of federal courts of appeals that have addressed the issue.

Sufficiency of the State's Evidence. Reviewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the guilty verdict, the State presented sufficient evidence in its case in chief to warrant submission of the matter to the jury. Defendant controlled and directed UTAHS with her husband and specifically instructed an employee who did billing for the company to identify Dr. Walton as the service provider even though Dr. Walton did not conduct or supervise the counseling. Such evidence was more than sufficient to proceed with the trial. Moreover, defendant's

claim that she honestly believed it was standard practice to identify the medical director as the service provider was not supported by the State's evidence nor defendant's expert. Accordingly, the evidence was also sufficient to support the jury verdict.

ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANTS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF A TENTATIVE PLEA OFFER WHICH WAS RESCINDED BY THE PROSECUTOR BEFORE IT WAS SUBMITTED TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR APPROVAL.

Without citing to the record, defendants allege that through their attorney, they accepted a plea offer from the prosecutor which would have resulted in defendant Robert Stringham's guilty plea to three third degree felony counts and in the court's dismissal of the remaining charges, including all counts against defendant Gale Stringham. Aplt. Brf. at 5, 7-8. Defendants contend that the trial court erred in refusing to order specific performance of the alleged plea agreement between defendants and the prosecutor. Aplt. Brf. at 7. Defendants' claim fails on two fronts. First, defendants do not demonstrate clear error in the trial court's finding that a final agreement was not reached. Second, even had an agreement been reached between the parties, it is not enforceable because it had never been presented to and accepted by the trial court.

A. The Trial Court's Finding that No Plea Agreement Was Reached Was Not Clearly Erroneous.

In seeking specific performance of the alleged plea agreement, defendant submitted to the trial court an affidavit from his defense attorney stating that the prosecutor and defense counsel agreed that the three-count plea by defendant Robert Stringham would be "an

appropriate disposition of the case.” RS: 145. Defense counsel stated that at the prosecutor’s request and “to avoid any misunderstandings,” he signed the yellow pad where the prosecutor had written the terms of the contemplated agreement. RS: 145-46. Finally, defense counsel alleged that after obtaining his clients’ consent, he left a message on the prosecutor’s voice mail indicating defendants’ “acceptance of the plea bargain agreement.” RS: 146. The State, however, disputed defendants’ allegations of an acceptance.⁷ The prosecutor’s paralegal, who retrieved defense counsel’s voice mail message, maintained that defense counsel “did not affirmatively accept the plea offer,” but simply said, “I think we’re close on the plea agreement.” R. 363: 12; GS: 186; RS: 146.

On the day of trial, the court heard argument on the motion. R. 363: 3-13. In proffering his own testimony, defense counsel described the nature of the plea negotiations. R. 363: 8. He represented to the court that he told the prosecutor he would “have to talk to [his] clients but [he] thought that [the three-count plea] might possibly work.” R. 363: 7. He represented that after obtaining defendants’ consent, he left a message at the telephone number provided by the prosecutor indicating: “I believe we’ve got a deal. I talked my clients into it. Let’s get together.” R. 363: 8-9. Based on the foregoing, the trial court denied the motion, finding that “there wasn’t an unequivocal acceptance of the offer.” *See* R. 363: 10.

⁷The State also disputed that a firm plea offer had been made. RS: 184. The trial court, however, did not expressly reach that issue. *See* R. 363: 3-13.

The trial court's determination that the voice mail message did not constitute an acceptance is a finding of fact which will not be reversed unless clearly erroneous. *Cal Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George*, 898 P.2d 1372, 1378 (Utah 1995); *see also Nine Thousand One Hundred Ninety-nine Dollars*, 791 P.2d at 216 (holding that the trial court's findings pertaining to a prosecutor's plea agreement based on extrinsic evidence will not be disturbed unless clearly erroneous). Under contract law, "[a]n acceptance is a manifestation of assent to an offer, such that an objective, reasonable person is justified in understanding that a fully enforceable contract has been made." *Cal Wadsworth*, 898 P.2d at 1376. An offer does not become binding until the offeree affirmatively and unequivocally accepts the offer. *See R.J. Daum Const. Co. v. Child*, 122 Utah 194, 200, 247 P.2d 817, 820 (Utah 1952) (holding that an acceptance "must be clear, positive and unambiguous"). A review of the facts before the court reveals that the trial court's ruling was supported by the evidence.

In this case, the prosecutor denied receiving any form of acceptance from defense counsel. GS: 184. The prosecutor's paralegal further stated in her affidavit that in defense counsel's voice mail message, he only said that he thought they were "close on the plea agreement." GS: 186. Although defense counsel denied in his proffer that he only indicated they were "close" to a deal, R. 363: 9-10, his proffer retreated from the language of his affidavit. In his proffer, defense counsel represented that he said in his message: "I believe we've got a deal. I talked my clients into it. Let's get together." R. 363: 8-9. Thus, counsel's statement that he "believed" they had a deal suggested that although a plea

agreement appeared probable, some doubt remained. Accordingly, he asked that the two sides get together again.

In light of the foregoing, it was not clear error for the trial court to find that defense counsel's voice mail message did not constitute an unequivocal acceptance so as to create a binding plea agreement. It cannot be said that defense counsel's message was "such that an objective, reasonable person [would be] justified in understanding that a fully enforceable contract [had] been made." *Cal Wadsworth*, 898 P.2d at 1376.

The trial court also concluded that the parties' failure to discuss the terms of restitution was fatal to a finding of a final agreement. R. 363: 10-11. The court's conclusion that failure to reach agreement on such an essential term as restitution is supported by contract law. Where "the preliminary agreement is incomplete, it being apparent that the determination of certain details is deferred until the writing is made out[,] . . . the preliminary negotiations and agreements do not constitute a contract." *Daum Const.*, 247 P.2d at 200 (*quoting* Restatement of the Law of Contracts, Vol. 1, Ch. 3, Sec. 26). Defense counsel's message indicating that he again wanted to "get together" on the matter supports a conclusion that not all the necessary details had been finalized, at least one of which was the payment of restitution.

In short, resolving all disputed evidence "in a light most favorable to the trial court's determination," the trial court's finding that defendants did not accept the alleged plea offer was adequately supported by the record and this Court should therefore affirm the court's decision. *See State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994).

B. Defendants Have No Constitutional Right to a Plea Agreement That Was Not Presented to or Accepted by the Trial Court.

In any event, the application of contract law to plea agreements is inherently limited because plea agreements are not contracts. *Patience*, 944 P.2d at 387. The underlying right implicated in a plea agreement is constitutionally based rather than contractually based. *Id.* Therefore, the enforceability of an alleged plea agreement must be examined under the constitution. *Id.* Although “[p]rinciples of contract law provide a useful analytical framework’ in cases involving plea agreements, . . . [they] ‘cannot be blindly incorporated into the criminal law in the area of plea bargaining.’” *Patience*, 944 P.2d at 387 (quoting *United States v. Ocanas*, 628 F.2d 353, 358 (5th Cir. 1980)); see also *State v. Gladney*, 951 P.2d 247, 248 (Utah App. 1998) (observing that “[c]ontract analysis has some application to plea agreements”).

Defendants contend that specific performance of the alleged plea agreement is required under the “fundamental right to fairness” guaranteed by the United States Constitution. See Aplt. Brf. at 8-9. Defendants’ contention is without support. The seminal decision addressing a defendant’s right to enforce a plea offer that is rescinded after acceptance by the defendant is *Mabry v. Johnson*, 467 U.S. 504, 104 S.Ct. 2543 (1984). In *Mabry*, the prosecutor offered to make a favorable sentencing recommendation if the defendant pled guilty to the charge of accessory after a felony murder. Three days later, defense counsel informed the prosecutor that his client accepted the offer. *Id.* at 506, 104 S.Ct. at 2545. After defense counsel communicated his client’s acceptance of the offer, the

prosecutor withdrew the offer and made a counteroffer involving a less favorable sentencing recommendation. *Id.* The defendant initially rejected the latter offer and proceeded to trial. *Id.* at 506, 104 S.Ct. at 2545-46. However, when the judge declared a mistrial on the second day of trial, the defendant accepted the offer and the court sentenced him accordingly. *Id.*

On appeal from the denial of defendant's federal habeas petition, the Supreme Court upheld the conviction, rejecting the defendant's claim that constitutional "'fairness' precluded the prosecution's withdrawal of a plea proposal once accepted" by defendant. *Id.* In so concluding, the High Court held that "[a] plea bargain standing alone is without constitutional significance; in itself it is a mere executory agreement which, until embodied in the judgment of a court, does not deprive an accused of liberty or any other constitutionally protected interest." *Id.* at 507-08, 104 S.Ct. at 2546 (footnote omitted).

Although the defendant's conviction in *Mabry* was based on a plea rather than a jury verdict as in this case, his complaint on appeal was no different than that of defendants here—the lost opportunity of a more favorable outcome. The Supreme Court rejected the defendant's complaint in *Mabry* because the "plea was in no sense induced by the prosecutor's withdrawn offer," and therefore was "in no sense the product of governmental deception." *Mabry*, 467 U.S. at 510, 104 S.Ct. at 2548. Likewise, defendants' conviction in this case was in no sense the product of government wrongdoing, but rather the result of the duly rendered verdict of a jury. Accordingly, this Court should also reject defendants' claim.

Citing to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals decision in *United States v. Cooper*, 594 F.2d 12 (4th Cir. 1979), defendants contend that they have a constitutional right to enforcement of the alleged plea agreement even though it was not presented to and accepted by the trial court. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 9. Defendants do not acknowledge *Mabry* nor do they acknowledge the Fourth Circuit's subsequent conclusion that *Mabry* "overruled [its] decision in *Cooper*." *Plaster v. United States*, 789 F.2d 289, 292-93 (4th Cir. 1986). In so concluding, the Fourth Circuit held that under *Mabry*, "a criminal defendant's acceptance of a prosecutor's proposed plea bargain does not create a constitutional right to have the bargain specifically enforced where the prosecutor withdraws the offer prior to the acceptance of the guilty plea." *Id.*

Defendants reliance on the Supreme Court's decision in *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct. 495 (1971), is also misplaced. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 8-9. In *Santobello*, the prosecutor recommended that defendant be sentenced to the maximum one-year term even though the defendant had entered a guilty plea more than six months earlier based on the State's agreement not to make a sentencing recommendation. *Id.* at 258-59, 92 S.Ct. at 497. The High Court reversed the defendant's conviction because the plea was obtained by the State's inducement. *Id.* at 261, 92 S.Ct. at 499. Unlike *Mabry* and the facts of this case, the defendant's conviction in *Santobello* was the product of governmental inducement. As such, *Santobello* is inapposite. As held by the Supreme Court in *Mabry*, the Constitution "is not a code of ethics for prosecutors; its concern is with the manner in which persons are deprived of their liberty." 467 U.S. at 511, 104 S.Ct. at 2548.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that “plea agreements are binding on the parties and the court once the plea is entered and accepted.” *State v. Kay*, 717 P.2d 1294, 1304 (Utah 1986). As discussed above, *Mabry* makes clear that a plea agreement is *not* binding until the plea is entered and accepted. That ruling is consistent with this Court’s decision in *State v. Moss*, 921 P.2d 1021, 1027 (Utah App.), *cert. denied*, 929 P.2d 250 (Utah 1996), in which the Court held that “so long as defendant took no actions in reliance on the illegal plea agreement which would substantially affect a retrial, defendant is not prejudiced.” Defendants can claim no prejudice here. Defendants have no inherent right to a plea bargain. *United States v. Hernandez*, 948 F.2d 316, 325 (7th Cir. 1991). Thus, even where “the government and the defendant reach a plea agreement, the court is not required to accept it.” *Id.* Given the authority of a trial court to reject a plea agreement, defendants cannot complain that they have suffered prejudice by a rescission which occurred before the plea agreement was ever presented to the trial court for approval.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GIVE DEFENDANTS’ PROPOSED GOOD FAITH INSTRUCTION.

Defendants maintained at trial that they believed it was proper for them to bill all services provided in their Salt Lake office under Dr. Walton’s name because he was the purported medical director of UTAHS. R. 367: 1126. On appeal, defendants contend that the trial court erred in refusing to give defendants’ proposed “good faith” instruction, which read: “You are instructed that a representation that is made by an individual who has a good

faith belief in the correctness or truth of the representation is not a fraudulent representation.”

GS: 166. Defendants’ claim lacks merit.

“A trial court has a duty to instruct the jury on the law applicable to the facts of the case.” *Hamilton*, 827 P.2d at 238. Accordingly, the trial court “can refuse to give an instruction that misstates the law.” *Id.* On the other hand, “[i]f there is sufficient evidence to justify a proposed jury instruction on any given issue, the trial court has a duty to adequately instruct the jury on that issue.” *State v. Smith*, 706 P.2d 1052, 1058 (Utah 1985). Nevertheless, “the framing of instructions lies in the trial judge’s discretion.” *State v. Standiford*, 769 P.2d 254, 266 (Utah 1988). A trial court’s instructions are adequate so long as they “g[ive] defendant the legal framework for his theory of the case.” *Id.*

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